FILED

04/16/2024

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0128

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Case No. DA 24-0128

MICHAEL A HEBERT,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

SHIELD ARMS, LLC, BRANDON ZEIDER, SETH BERGLEE, ERIC SQUIRES, RAYMOND DEAN BRANDLY, and SHIELD DEVELOPMENT GROUP LLC,

Defendants and Appellees.

On appeal from the Montana Eleventh Judicial District Court

County of Flathead

Cause No. DV-2019-1320

Honorable Amy Eddy Presiding

Appearances:

Charles H. Carpenter
Carpenter Law Firm plc
210 North Higgins Avenue Suite 336
Missoula, Montana 59802
(406) 543-0511
carpentc@carpenterlawfirmplc.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the district court properly granted summary judgment on Count I of the amended complaint, relating to Hebert's disassociation from Shield Arms LLC.
- 2. If Hebert was properly disassociated, whether the district court properly applied section 35-8-809 in compelling a buy-out of Hebert's ownership interest in Shield Arms LLC.
- 3. Whether the district court properly granted summary judgment on Hebert's conversion claims.
- 4. Whether the district court properly granted summary judgment regarding the disassociation of Hebert from Shield Development Group.
- 5. Whether the district court abused its discretion in denying, in part, Hebert's motion to compel evidence relevant for discovery.
- 6. Whether the district court abused its discretion in denying Hebert's request for an extension of the deadline for expert reports.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from the April 2019 disassociation of Michael Hebert from two Montana limited liability companies, Shield Arms LLC ("SA") and Shield Development Group LLC ("SDG"). Hebert, Brandon Zeider, and Seth Berglee were members of both companies. Raymond Dean Brandly and Eric Squires were members of SDG only.

Hebert originally filed a complaint against SA, SDG, Zeider, Berglee, Brandly, and Squires in December 2019, followed by a six count amended complaint on November 4, 2022. Of relevance here, counts I and II sought reversal of the

disassociation of Hebert from, respectively, SA and SDG. In Count V, Hebert sought return of personal property and/or damages for conversion. In Count VI, Hebert sought, as an alternative, appropriate compensation for his membership interests.

Hebert served discovery of Defendants in March 2023. Defendants only partially responded, asserting broad objections to the bulk of the discovery. *See* Dkt, 59.10, Exh. B. Defendants also conceded that they had destroyed some of the relevant evidence. *Id.* Exh. B at 5. Hebert followed the prescribed procedures for seeking additional discovery responses, including conferring with Defendants and with the district court.

Hebert filed a motion for partial summary judgment on count I of the complaint in June 2023. Dkt. 42. He changed counsel not long after this, and lost his expert. Hebert disclosed his new expert as soon as he retained one, *see* Dkt, 82, Exh. A, and through filed a motion to compel additional discovery responses, and to extend the time for expert reports. Dkt. 59.10.

Defendants moved for summary judgment on all counts of the amended complaint on September 12, 2023. Dkt. 61. After the close of discovery, the district court entered an order partially granting Hebert's motion to compel, and denying the request to extend the time for expert reports. Dkt. 78. Hebert moved to revise this order, pursuant to Rule 54(b). Dkt. 79. The district court never ruled on the motion to revise.

Hebert filed a supplemental declaration opposing summary judgment on December 14, 2023. Dkt. 84. Both summary judgment motions were heard on January 4, 2024. Dkt. 87; see Transcript of Oral Argument of January 4, 2024 (hereinafter "Tr."). On February 7, 2024, the district court granted summary judgment to Defendants on all counts of the complaint. Dkt. 90. Defendants filed a notice of judgment that same day. Dkt. 91.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Hebert was a Member of SA and SDG

Michael Hebert, Brandon Zeider, and Seth Berglee formed Shield Arms LLC ("SA") in April 2017. SA was formed for the purpose of designing, manufacturing, and selling firearms and firearm accessories. More specifically, the impetus for creating SA was to develop and monetize Hebert's designs for aftermarket enhanced magazines for popular handguns. Dkt. 70 (hereinafter "Hebert Decl.") ¶ 6(a). SA started in Hebert's office in Kalispell.

Shield Development Group LLC was formed in 2018. It was created to hold intellectual property, and was not expected to produce income. *See* Dkt. 84 (hereinafter "Hebert Supp. Decl.") ¶ 4(a).

2. Hebert was the Only Member Developing and Inventing New Products

From the beginning, Hebert acted as the principal developer of products for SA.

In opposition to the motion for summary judgment, Hebert provided a detailed account of his efforts.

- 4. . . . At the time of my unlawful purported disassociation, patent attorney Glenn Bellamy had been tasked to file patents on the Mag extensions, ICAM, IFLR, and the Project X pistol. In my interrogatory responses, I itemized a number of inventions I was working on when I was removed from Shield Arms. See Def. Exh. N at 17.
- 5. I am not surprised that Zeider's and Berglee's affidavits give no detailed description of their invention efforts concerning the Mag extensions, ICAM, IFLR, Project X pistol, but are instead just bare denials of my efforts. They may have successfully taken these products to market, but the underlying product designs were mine.
- 6. The ICAM is perhaps the most commercially significant of these. A selections of texts between my colleagues and me illustrates my lead involvement in these projects. Exhibit A
 - a. Shield Arms recently was issued a patent for the ICAM. Exhibit B. Although I am not listed as an inventor, this patent is based on my work. I had originally started thinking about ways to increase magazines more than a decade ago, and it was the original driving purpose behind creating Shield Arms.
 - b. Glock introduced the model 43 in 2015 or so. It was reliable and small, but the six shot magazine limited use and sales. In 2017, I developed a nine shot magazine, currently marketed as the Z9.
 - c. Glock responded by producing the model 43X, which took a ten shot magazine, in November 2018. I studied the 43X and realized that by replacing the plastic magazine Glock was using with a metal ICAM, we could make a 16 shot magazine that fit into the same firearm. I turned my efforts to this in December 2018, and by January 2019, I had a working prototype, which I showed off at the SHOT show that year. I filmed Berglee and Zeider posing and shooting with this product in late February 2019, and we uploaded the video to Youtube in early March 2019.

- d. This has been a phenomenally successful product and, as I understand it, the most successful aftermarket product in Glock's history. . . .
- 10. Defendants' insistence that the IFLR patent was the only intellectual property involved in the companies is just plain wrong. Attached is an email from Glenn Bellamy, dated April 7, 2019, enclosing the three pending patent applications he had submitted. Exhibit C. I do not have the complete attachments that Bellamy sent me, but hope to get them and all the other correspondence with him, in discovery.

Hebert Decl. ¶¶ 4-6,10, *see also* ¶¶ 7-8 (explaining development of the folding receiver). In contrast, other than some unsupported statements, Zeider and Berglee presented no evidence at all that contradicted Hebert's account. Indeed, Zeider and Berglee were adamant that the only invention developed by SA or SDG was the folding receiver. They offered no account at all for the enhanced magazines, which are SA's principal product.

When summary judgment was completed, Hebert received some documents from the patent lawyer. These documents confirmed, beyond question, that he was filing patents on at least three inventions for the company prior to the disassociations. Hebert submitted a supplemental declaration including this information. Hebert Supp. Decl. ¶¶ 3,4.

3. Hebert's Concerns about Dean Brandly

Brandly lied to Heberts two lies which, when he learned they were false, gave Hebert grave concerns about the legality doing business with him. First, he learned that Brandly's claim to be a decorated combat leader of a Ranger sniper section was

false. Hebert Decl. ¶ 21. Hebert was sensitive to the potential claims of stolen valor, which could affect SA's business in the firearms business community. *See also* 18 U.S.C. § 704. Second, Hebert learned that Brandly's company did not have the proper federal firearms license for the work it was doing for SA, a felony. *Id.* Brandly admitted these lies to Hebert.

Hebert began calling people Brandly had listed as references; and was told a number of concerning things about him. *Id.* at ¶¶ 23-25, 28. He tried to check whether these allegations were true. He kept Zeider and Berglee informed of what he was hearing, and the efforts he was making, and they never expressed any concerns about him doing so. Instead, they encouraged him to try to get to the bottom of the allegations he had heard. Hebert believed that what he was hearing, combined with the misrepresentations Brandly had made, were sufficient basis to cease doing business with Brandly. Berglee and Zeider did not agree, and took no action to sever any part of their relationship with Brandly or his company, and continued doing business with him, despite Hebert's legal concerns.

Hebert did not call Zev Technologies for this or any other purpose. $Id. \P 31$. Hebert (a managing member of the company) was and is unaware of any actual or potential transaction between Zev and SA; SA's document production fails to show any. Aero Precision asked Hebert to call them and expressed their concerns about Brandly to Hebert. $Id. \P 28$.

Richard Tentler, whom Hebert hoped to engage as counsel should an issue arise concerning theft of intellectual property, also expressed concerns about Brandly. *Id.* ¶ 30. To Hebert's knowledge, neither Tentler nor Tentler's client ever took any action that harmed or could have harmed Brandly or his company, or SA/SDG. Agency Arms did not have a business relationship with SA or SDG. *Id.*

For his part, Brandly objected to Hebert's calls and texts regarding him, and had counsel send SA a cease and desist letter. Dkt. 42 Exh. 3.¹ Brandly is a member in SDG, along with Hebert, and had a business relationship with SA. Neither he nor Berglee or Zeider ever tried an approach short of a letter from counsel. Nobody shared the letter with Hebert, or gave him any opportunity to cease and desist any conduct. *Id.* ¶ 32. Hebert would have done so, if advised by counsel, but was never given the opportunity. *Id.*

4. Berglee and Zeider Push Hebert Out

Even before any of this alleged conduct, Zeider and Berglee got the FBI to investigate Hebert with lurid but false accusations. The FBI investigated, and, by July 2019, found that Hebert was not involved in any criminal activity, and closed the investigation. Dkt. 58 Exh. 1. This came too late: on April 17, 2019, without any notice to Hebert or any chance to confront the false allegations against him, Berglee

¹ The letter was addressed to Hebert in care of company counsel, who did not forward it or notify Hebert.

and Zeider held a meeting and voted to disassociate Hebert under section 35-8-803(1)(e) M.C.A.

After the disassociation, Zeider and Berglee acted to marshall allegations of odd behavior on the part of Hebert during the run-up to the disassociation. See Order of February 7, 2024 ("SJ Order") at 2,3. Three things can be said of these allegations. First they are materially false and completely post-hoc: nothing was ever said to Hebert before the disassociation, no effort was made to ascertain whether Hebert had alternative explanations for these allegations, nor was any effort made to address them, through, for example, changes in Hebert's alleged behavior to towards Ms. Hauss. Second, Ms. Hauss' description of the events involving her differs materially from that of Zeider's, as did Hauss' contemporaneous conduct towards Hebert. See Hebert Decl. ¶ 12. Finally, although the district court repeated these allegations, as if they were all proven, it did not base its decision even in part on them. That is, the decision that the disassociation was proper was based entirely on Hebert's alleged conduct with respect to Brandly, and not at all on his allegedly odd conduct in the office. The district court was correct in not basing its decision on this alleged odd conduct, even if it was in error in basing its decision on the conduct relating to Brandly.

5. In the Aftermath of the Disassociation, Defendants Appropriated Hebert's Property

Berglee and Zeider locked Hebert out of SA immediately after the purported disassociation. This meant that a considerable amount of his personal property which was left in the office could not be immediately recovered. Eventually, SA rented a storage unit, and returned some of Hebert's property.

Hebert wanted SA to return all of his property, including a number of firearms which, because of federal firearms regulations, could not be simply left in a storage unit. Zeider personally provided a list of these firearms, Hebert Decl. Exh. M, to be delivered to a licensed dealer, where Hebert could collect them. This transfer never took place, and these firearms were never delivered to Hebert.

Hebert has receipts for these firearms, *Id.* Exh. N, and SA, which has the logs concerning them, has never produced any documentation showing that these firearms were transferred from Hebert's ownership to SA or any other entity.

As required by 35-8-808(2) M.C.A., Zeider and Berglee made an offer to buyout Hebert's interest in SA. Although the book value of the company was actually over \$111,000,² Hebert Supp. Decl. ¶ 6, they left out significant company assets, including the intellectual property they claim could have been licensed for millions of

²The going concern value of the company was about \$480,000, *Id.* ¶ 8, but Hebert was not given the opportunity to present his evidence supporting this figure. *See also* Dkt. 42 at 11, 12.

dollars, and made an offer of \$5,671.62 based on their cooked book value of \$20,094.49. *Id.* ¶¶ 6,7. Hebert, as was his absolute right, declined the offer.

6. The Purported SDG Operating Agreement was never Properly Executed

Hebert did not sign the SDG operating agreement that was attached to Zeider's affidavit submitted in support of summary judgment. Hebert provided a detailed factual account in his declaration opposing summary judgment, Hebert Decl. ¶¶ 14-17, and Defendants-Appellees did not provide evidence to the contrary: they suggested that Hebert's account was refuted by SDG's counsel's file, but this is simply not the case. SDG's counsel was not a witness to Hebert's signing anything, and his file includes nothing about what Hebert signed, why he signed it, or what anyone said to him.

The core facts are not even in dispute: Hebert raised concerns about the enforceability of the purported agreement, and the members of SDG unanimously agreed to replace that unenforceable document with one that corrected its legal flaws. This cure for the defects in the purported operating agreement was not performed. The document Zeider emailed to Knudsen on March 21, 2019 after the meeting, was not the revised operating agreement the members had all agreed was necessary at the meeting, nor was it a document that Hebert had signed.

Hebert's disassociation from SDG was based completely on the purported operating agreement that the members had unanimously agreed to replace with one that Hebert would agree to and be legally valid.

7. Hebert's Efforts to get Redress

Hebert filed his six count amended complaint in late 2022. It states claims for wrongfully disassociating him from SA and SDG, alternatively for appropriate compensation if the disassociations were proper, for conversion, and for defamation.

Hebert served discovery on all five defendants in March 2023, which was partially answered in late April 2023. Defendants objected to a great deal of the discovery, on constitutional and relevance grounds. Critically, Defendants-Appellees withheld financial records for the period after the disassociation; they also admitted that all of Hebert's emails had been destroyed. Hebert's then-counsel pursued the remedies available under the Rules, and the district court's scheduling order, including having a conference with the district judge.

Hebert moved for summary judgment on count I of the amended complaint in June 2023, contending that his disassociation from SA was improper. Dkt. 42. After this motion was filed, Hebert was without counsel for weeks. *See* Dkt. 50, 57. After he hired new counsel, his new counsel filed a reply brief in support of the motion for partial summary judgment and then, once a new expert was retained, disclosed the new expert to Defendants-Appellees, and filed a motion to compel production of

documents relevant to damages, and for and extension of the then imminent expert report deadline. Dkt. 59.10. This motion was still pending when Defendants-Appellees moved for summary judgment on all claims of the amended complaint in September 2023. Hebert filed his opposition brief in early October 2023. After briefing was completed and discovery had closed, the district court granted the motion to compel, in part, and denied the request to extend time for the expert report. Order of Oct. 23, 2023. Hebert moved to revise this order, to direct the production of additional documents related to his damages claims. Dkt. 79. Once he had some responses to outstanding discovery, Hebert filed a supplemental declaration in December 2023. The district court heard oral argument, and granted Defendants-Appellees' motion for summary judgment, and denied Hebert's for partial summary judgment, on February 7, 2024.

The district court upheld Hebert's disassociation from SA, on the theory that potential tort liability from Hebert's statements about Brandly might subject SA to tort liability, which the district court considered sufficient to support a finding that it would have been unlawful to continue to carry on the business of SA with Hebert as a member. SJ Order 4-6. As to SDG, the district found that the operating agreement was valid. *Id.* at 6. With respect to conversions, despite considerable evidence in the record, including citation to a youtube video seen by thousands, the district court found that (a) there had only been one item of intellectual property, which had been

properly assigned and (b) that all other personal property had been returned to Hebert. *Id.* at 8-9. That is, the district court ignored the correspondence regarding applications from the company's patent lawyer, the actual issuance of a second patent based on one of those applications, and the list of firearms Zeider produced that were never returned. With respect to the alternative claim for compensation, the district court did not independently ascertain the value of SA, but instead said that Hebert had not proven that the amount he had been offered was too low. *Id.* at 9. The district court did not order the sale of Hebert's interest.

The district court did not rule on any of the other pending motions, which were mooted by its grant of summary judgment.

STATEMENT OF THE STANDARDS OF REVIEW

The Court reviews summary judgments *de novo* using the same standards as are supposed to have been applied in the district court. *Egan Slough Community v. Flathead Cty Bd. Of Comm'rs*, 2022 MT 57 ¶ 14. There are two elements to a summary judgment decision: (1) there must be an absence of genuine issues of material fact, and (2) the movant must, on the undisputed material facts, be entitled to judgment as a matter of law. All reasonable inferences from the factual record must be drawn in favor of the non-moving party, *Cremer Rodeo Land & Livestock Co. v. McMullen*, 2023 MT 117 ¶ 17, and only then can the Court determine whether there is no genuine issue of material fact. This Court has

repeatedly held that summary judgment is an extreme remedy and should never be substituted for a trial if a material factual controversy exists. *Spinler v. Allen*, 1999 MT 160, ¶ 16, 295 Mont. 139, 983 P.2d 348 (citing *Montana Metal Buildings, Inc. v. Shapiro*, 283 Mont. 471, 474, 942 P.2d 694, 696 (1997)). Fact finding is the province of the jury at trial, not that of the district court on summary judgment. "[W]eighing the evidence is . . . a classic jury function' and we are reluctant to remove that function from the jury's purview." *Andrews*, ¶ 21 (quoting *Braulick v. Hathaway Meats, Inc.*, 1999 MT 57, ¶ 14, 294 Mont. 1, 980 P.2d 1). Consequently, if there is **any doubt** as to the propriety of a motion for summary judgment, it should be denied. *Rogers v. Swingley*, 206 Mont. 306, 312, 670 P.2d 1386, 1389 (1983); *Cheyenne Western Bank v. Young*, 179 Mont. 492, 496, 587 P.2d 401, 404 (1978).

Williams v. Plum Creek Timber Co., 2011 MT 271, ¶ 41 (emphasis added).

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