Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0128

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA Supreme Court No. DA 24-0128

MICHAEL A. HEBERT,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

SHIELD ARMS, LLC, BRANDON ZEIDER, SETH BERGLEE, ERIC SQUIRES, RAYMOND DEAN BRANDLY, AND SHIELD DEVELOPMENT GROUP, LLC,

Defendants/Appellees.

On Appeal from the Montana Eleventh Judicial District Flathead County Cause No. DV-19-132, Hon. Amy Eddy

APPELLEES' RESPONSE BRIEF

Charles H. Carpenter Carpenter Law Firm PLC 210 North Higgins Avenue Suite 336 Missoula, MT 59802

Phone: 406-543-0511 Email: carpentc@carpenterlawfirmplc.com Email: doug@framptonpurdy.com

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is undisputed that Judge Eddy granted the motion for summary judgment based on her interpretation and application of § 35-8-803(1)(e)(i), MCA, in determining that it had become "unlawful to carry on [Shield Arms'] business with [Hebert]" at the time of dissociation. Importantly, this law *does not* limit a company's power to dissociate a member *only* through judicially determined

expulsion. The members may do it. The District Court correctly interpreted and applied this law. The District Court considered the evidence presented by Hebert, including his admission that he contacted Shield's business partners to complain about Brandly. Hebert's behavior created tort claims arising from interference with business relationships, and violated his duties of care.

The distributional valuation interests provided to Hebert for his interests in Shield and SDG were accurate following dissociation. Hebert simply disagreed with them. The District Court did not abuse discretion in denying Hebert's request to extend his expert's disclosure deadline, and partially denying Hebert's motion to compel. Hebert's conversion claims were unsupported and properly dismissed.

Finally, it was not in error for the District Court to find that Hebert had signed the SDG Operating Agreement in effect at the time of his dissociation.

Judge Eddy should be affirmed in all respects.

ARGUMENT

1. The District Court did not misapply the law on Hebert's Count 1.

On the question of construction and application of § 35-8-803(1)(e)(i), MCA, it was not error for the District Court to agree that it had become 'unlawful'

to carry on Shield's business with Hebert, or that a court action and determination was not required before his dissociation.

A. The language does not limit removal of a member by court decree.

The plain statutory language does not explicitly limit removal to court decree, that members may exclusively be removed by judicial determination, or that managers may be removed from an LLC only by a court. Appellant is not correct in his interpretation of this language. *Opening Br.*, pp. 19-21. Rather, \S 35-8-803(1)(e)(i), MCA, expressly permits a member of an LLC to be dissociated by a unanimous vote of the remaining members when it "is unlawful to carry on the company's business with the member." It need not happen only by judicial declaration, and is not limited to instances when the "mere presence" of the member is "enough to preclude continued operations as a matter of law." *Opening Br.*, p. 20.

Other courts have disagreed with Appellant's argument. Like Montana, Utah has adopted the Model Limited Liability Company Act, and the language of Utah Code Ann. § 48-2c-710(3) mirrors the provisions of § 35-8-803(1)(e)(i), MCA. *Duke v. Graham*, 2007 UT 31, 158 P.3d 540, involved the expulsion of two members of a limited liability company through arbitration. *Duke*, ¶ 1. The Utah Supreme Court held that court decree was not required by the plain statutory

language of the LLC Act, and that a court or judicial determination was not required to effectuate removal. Id., ¶ 15. The very same analysis and outcome should be applied here. A member's removal from an LLC is not available only by judicial decree pursuant to the plain statutory language.

B. The District Court reasonably interpreted "unlawful."

It was not erroneous for the District Court to recite the definition of "unlawful" from § 28-2-701, MCA, and *Black's Law Dictionary*, because "unlawful" is not defined in the MLLCA. Using this reasonably applied definition, it was not in error for the District Court to agree that "it would have been contrary to the policy of express law and contrary to good morals" to keep [Hebert] as a member [of Shield]." (Order Re: Cross Motions for Summary Judgment, Doc. 90, p. 5, APP. D)

Seymour v. New Destiny, LLC, cited by Appellant, is not applicable.

Opening Br., p. 24. There, a company was formed to purchase real estate and the two members engaged in a relationship and resided on the property purchased by their LLC, which resulted in a permanent restraining order for domestic violence and one of the members fleeing the Virgin Islands. Seymour v. New Destiny, LLC, 2018 V.I. LEXIS 134, *1. However, whether the restraining order made it "unlawful for ... the business to be continued" per se was immaterial, since the

parties agreed to dissolve New Destiny in that proceeding. *Id.*, *19-20.

Under the facts, Zeider and Berglee were allowed to dissociate Hebert from membership in Shield, and Hebert wasn't entitled to take part in the vote or be provided advance notice of the decision. The evidence supporting the decision to expel Hebert from membership in Shield Arms was credible and ample, while Hebert's evidence consisted of mere denials. Count 1 was properly dismissed.

2. The District Court considered the alleged issues of fact raised by Hebert.

From the time he filed his *Complaint* to the time of briefing on the motion, Hebert had 4½ years to produce supporting evidence for his claims, which he did not do. The District Court correctly noted that "Hebert does not dispute that he contacted several of Shield Arms' business partners threatening litigation if they used stolen 'IP from Dean," and that Hebert failed to provide evidence that Dean "stole anything from anyone" – making it uncontested that Hebert's conduct created tort claims arising from interference with Shield's business relationships. (APP. D, p. 5) Moreover, Hebert's uncontested conduct as described violated his duties of care. *Id*.

Hebert concedes that he made allegations against Brandly, but generally does not address most of the direct allegations regarding his conduct aside from

conclusory denials. *Opening Br.*, pp. 28-29. The standards Hebert recites are unsupported.

P.3d 920, is inapplicable. *Opening Br.*, p. 29. *Harrell* involved a wage and constructive discharge claim. The wage and "extra duties" verdicts reached by the jury were reversed, and Harrell, an employee of Montana Farmers Union, was held to not personally liable for his actions. *Id.*, ¶ 51. This is in contrast with the present situation, because whether Hebert could be personally liable for his actions is not at issue; the question is rather whether Shield could have been held liable for them, which was certainly the case. A lawsuit for Hebert's actions would have provided cause for Hebert's dissociation from Shield, as Appellant suggests, but was not a prerequisite to dissociation. The harm that Hebert was causing to the interests of Shield and SDG required the members to take the action they did to mitigate such ongoing and future harm, which is not addressed by Hebert.

3. The District Court did not misapply § 35-8-809, MCA.

Hebert pled claims pursuant to § 35-8-809, MCA, in the alternative and based in his own conjecture that the valuations of his interests set by Shield Arms and SDG were allegedly deficient. However, the District Court correctly held that a fair value of Hebert's distributional interests was determined by Shield and SDG

upon dissociation, noting that Hebert "disagrees with the amount owed to him, but has not raised any genuine issues of material fact" as to the value. APP. D, p. 9. The District Court did "affirmatively declare the value of the business" by agreeing with the valuations provided by Shield and SDG. *Opening Br.*, p. 31. Thus, the provisions of § 35-8-809(1), MCA, were properly followed.

Hebert complains that he was entitled to an assessment of damages based on valuations of Shield and SDG beyond the time of his dissociation, and should have received some unspecified amount for IP that was assigned. *Opening Br.*, p. 31. However, this was an unsupported argument, because the distributional amounts were properly valued *at the time of dissociation*, as Hebert had provided no entitlement to valuations beyond that time.

It was well within the province of the District Court to agree with the valuations provided by Shield and SDG to Hebert. It is after all the parties' responsibility to provide a district court with competent evidence of property values. *In re Marriage of Frank*, 2022 MT 179, ¶ 71, 410 Mont. 73, 517 P.3d 188. A District Court may adopt any valuation of property reasonably supported by the record and assign any value to an item of property that is within the range of values offered into evidence. *Hutchins v. Hutchins*, 2018 MT 275, ¶ 50, 393 Mont. 283, 430 P.3d 502 (citations omitted). Hebert provided no credible evidence to support

that his interests in the two entities were actually worth more than the amounts provided, which he simply rejected at the time.

4. The District Court did not abuse discretion in denying Appellant's motions to compel evidence or to extend the deadline for expert reports

As a preliminary matter, it is important to note that Shield had served its objectionable responses to Hebert "almost six months before the ... Motion to Compel was filed." (Order Re: Various Motions, Doc. 78, p. 2, APP. E) Second, the requested discovery at issue consisted of a litany of financial and business records from Shield "for the years 2017 to the present." The District Court was justified in its denial of Hebert's request for such information after the date of dissociation because he had failed to articulate "any theory by which he is entitled to a business evaluation as of July 31, 2023." *Id*, p. 3. Put another way, Hebert's designated expert accountant had not properly supported his request for more current information, and "[t]here was more than sufficient time to obtain this information prior to the Expert Witness Disclosure Deadline – which the parties had known about for months." Id, p. 4. Thus, the District Court permitted the production of information to a time period ending April 19, 2019, which was produced.

These decisions were well within the discretion afforded to the District

Court. After delaying the prosecution of this case for several years, Hebert failed

to support his requests to extend deadlines long known to him, and he ultimately failed to adequately justify why his expert was entitled to the financial and business information beyond dissociation. Instead, Hebert filed unsubstantiated and unsupported declarations seeking to create material facts from thin air. The support that he provided in the form of expert analysis was incredibly vague and simply did not identify the alleged need for information beyond the dissociation date, which properly ended the analysis for the District Court on that issue.

Appellant cites *B Bar J Ranch*, *LLC v. Carlisle Wide Plank Floors*, *Inc.*, 2012 MT 246, 366 Mont. 506, 288 P.3d 228, as a "similar situation" to this dispute. *Opening Br.*, p. 33. However, in *B Bar J* the Court held that Carlise was entitled to production of tax records for use by an expert, and requested in discovery, which in turn allowed Carlise to disclose its expert after the deadline. *Id.*, ¶ 15. The obvious additional difference with the present case and *B Bar J* is that Hebert actually received the Defendants' tax records to the time of dissociation and was not entitled to such records after dissociation.

- 5. The District Court did not err in granting summary judgment on the conversion claims.
 - A. Hebert's personal property was returned to him.

After April 17, 2019 Hebert left a great deal of personal property at the

Shield Arms' facility. The District Court properly dispelled the claim that it was kept or held onto inappropriately:

Hebert claims that he "left a great deal of personal property behind at Shield Arms, much more than was ever returned to [him]." (Doc. 58, ¶ 13). Zeider does not dispute that Hebert left personal property at the facility. Zeider claims they tried to return the property to Hebert for over three months after he was dissociated and moved the items to a storage facility, where Hebert's attorney and wife were provided keys. (Doc. 44, ¶ 74). Zeider claims Hebert picked up his property from the storage unit on or about August 2, 2019. (Doc. 44, ¶ 76). **Hebert does not state or specify what other personal property of his was never returned to him**. Thus, there is no genuine dispute of material fact as to Hebert's claim for conversion of his personal property.

(APP. D, p. 6) (emphasis added)

Hebert seeks to create issues of material fact on his personal property conversion claim by declaring that Zeider provided "a list of firearms" belonging to Hebert that could have been transferred for Hebert to pick up. *Opening Br.*, p. 36. This never happened. Zeider did not provide some list of Hebert's allegedly unreturned firearms to Hebert's former counsel, or anyone else. (Hebert Declar., Doc. 70, ¶ 39, APP. F) It was not made any part of the process of returning Hebert's actual property, and has been fabricated by Hebert. To be clear: these are not "receipts" from Hebert showing conversion of firearms, but fabricated arguments that seek to create issues where none exist in the first place.

B. Hebert's IP conversion claims were properly dismissed.

Hebert produced no credible evidence substantiating the claim of conversion of his intellectual property (IP). No such IP ever existed in the first place, at least to the understanding of Zeider and Berglee. At Hebert's dissociation the only item of IP that Shield or SDG had interest in is the FLR, which arose from Zeider's original idea, and on which Hebert did little to no work. All five members of SDG applied for the FLR Patent in 2019. On July 7, 2020, the FLR was assigned US Patent No. US-10704848-B1. Hebert's rights to that product, if any, ended upon assignment of the FLR. These facts are not in material dispute.

Hebert claims that the District Court "simply ignored [his] additional inventions, despite the patent attorney's files." *Opening Br.*, p. 38. In fact, Hebert advised the District Court that he would demonstrate "at trial" the IP that originated with him and was under distribution by the Appellees. (APP. D, p. 8) He failed to provide such evidence for consideration on summary judgment, however.

Hebert falsely claims that Defendants "destroyed" his e-mails on his inventions, but that he was able to save "a few of his preliminary drawings." He declares:

At the time of my unlawful purported disassociation, patent attorney Glenn Bellamy had been tasked to file patents on the

Mag extensions, ICAM, IFLR, and the Project X pistol. In my interrogatory responses, I itemized a number of inventions I was working on when I was removed from Shield Arms.

I am not surprised that Zeider's and Berglee's affidavits give no detailed description of their invention efforts concerning the Mag extensions, ICAM, IFLR, Project X pistol, but are instead just bare denials of my efforts. They may have successfully taken these products to market, but the underlying product designs were mine.

$(APP. F, \P\P 4-5)$

Hebert's only evidence of IP ownership is some hand drawing and vague messaging. Id., ¶¶ 4-6, 10. In fact, Hebert provided *no evidence* to establish the exercise of possession or control over any IP, including the FLR or the "enhanced magazines" that he falsely claims were stolen and then patented.

Importantly, Hebert received the e-mails with the patent attorney during discovery and they did not support his IP claims, which he does not explain to this Court. On October 4, 2023 Hebert filed a motion to deny or delay ruling on Defendants' motion for summary judgment, and he stated:

... Hebert has had to request information related to Count V of the complaint [ie, conversion] from a third-party, because Defendants have apparently lost or destroyed Hebert's company e-mails. Specifically, Hebert has requested emails with the company's patent counsel, which will show Hebert's role in inventing the devices that Defendants are profiting from

(Mot. Pursuant to Rule 56(f) to Deny or Delay Ruling on Defs' Mot. for Summ.

Judgment and Supp. Br. (Doc. 71), p. 2) Consistent with this effort, Hebert through counsel issued a subpoena duces tecum dated September 19, 2023 to patent attorney Glenn Bellamy, of the Cincinnati law firm Wood, Herron & Evans for all of the communications with Hebert from December 1, 2016 to April 19, 2019. (APP. G) However, Hebert did not file the said subpoena duces tecum into the District Court record. Nevertheless, Hebert received all of his e-mails with Glenn Bellamy pursuant to the said subpoena, and they do not support Hebert's conversion claims. Instead of admitting this, Hebert makes a dishonest argument implying that evidence of his IP was limited by destruction of e-mails. *Opening Br.*, p. 37.

Even assuming that Hebert had provided proof of *ownership* of the FLR or the enhanced magazine designs, the patents themselves would still exclude his ownership:

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